FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/12/2023 4:34 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/13/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102470</u>-3 (COA No. 56963-9-II)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

MARCUS THORNTON, Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

###

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT6
	The court misunderstood its discretion and denied Mr. Thornton a fair sentencing when it wrongly believed it could not consider Mr. Thornton's mitigation arguments and thought it was limited to replicating the previous court's sentencing decision.
	1. Mr. Thornton was entitled to a full resentencing
	2. The court misunderstood its discretion when it treated Mr. Thornton's resentencing as a question of how to adjust the prior sentence rather than a new de novo hearing at which it must independently determine the appropriate sentence.
	3. The Court of Appeals improperly excused the trial court's abuse of discretion, in conflict with opinions holding courts must meaningfully consider mitigating evidence and conduct de novo sentencing hearings after <i>Blake</i>
	4. This Court should grant review or stay the case pending its resolution of the issues in <i>Vasquez</i> and <i>Kelly</i> 16
E.	CONCLUSION16

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### **Washington Supreme Court Cases**

<i>In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin</i> , 146 Wn.2d 861, 50 P.3d 618 (2002)
State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021)1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 11, 12, 13
State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005) 8, 10
State v. Harrison, 148 Wn.2d 550, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003)
State v. Hutsell, 120 Wn.2d 913, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993) 1
State v. Jeannotte, 133 Wn.2d 847, 852, 947 P.2d 1192 (1997)
State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). 8, 1
State v. Mulholland, 161 Wn.2d 322, 166 P.3d 677 (2007)
State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011)
Washington Court of Appeals Cases
State v. Dunbar, Wn. App. 2d, 532 P.3d 652 (2023) 7, 13 14, 15
State v. Edwards, 23 Wn. App. 2d 118, 514 P.3d 692 (2022)
State v. McFarland, 18 Wn. App. 2d 528, 492 P.3d 829 (2021)
State v. Schloredt, 97 Wn. App. 789, 987 P.2d 647 (1999) 1
Rules
RAP 13 4 1 2 1

<b>RAP 18.17</b>	,	1	6	)
------------------	---	---	---	---

## A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Marcus Thornton petitions for review of the Court of Appeals's September 19, 2023, opinion. RAP 13.4.

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When Mr. Thornton was resentenced following *State v. Blake*<sup>1</sup>, the trial court mistakenly believed it was conducting "a different sort of sentencing," would not consider Mr. Thornton's arguments about mitigation, and wrongly bound itself to the prior court's sentencing decision. The court did not meaningfully exercise its discretion, consider Mr. Thornton's request for a low end sentence, or independently determine the appropriate sentence, but simply replicated the previous sentence in the new range.

The Court of Appeals's opinion affirming the sentence conflicts with this Court's opinions holding that sentencing courts must exercise their discretion and meaningfully consider

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021).

mitigating evidence at sentence. The opinion also conflicts with published Court of Appeals cases clarifying that a person is entitled to a de novo sentencing hearing at a *Blake* resentencing. This Court should accept review to address this conflict with other cases on this important issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

2. This Court recently accepted review of similar issues in the cases of *State v. Vasquez* and the consolidated cases of *State v. Kelly* and *State v. Kelly*. This Court should stay Mr. Thornton's petition pending resolution of those cases.

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2014, the prosecution charged Marcus Thornton with murder in the first and second degrees for an altercation that occurred with a person who stole Mr. Thornton's property. CP 1, 6-7; 10/01/15 RP 1088, 1102-03. Mr. Thornton testified and explained he was defending himself and did not intend to harm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Vasquez, Case No. 102045-7, Order Granting Review, Oct. 3, 2023; State v. Kelly, Cases No. 102002-3 & 102003-1, Orders Granting Review, Oct. 3, 2023.

anyone. 10/01/15 RP 1087-90, 1097-98, 1102-03. The jury agreed Mr. Thornton did not act with a premeditated intent to kill the other person and acquitted him of first-degree murder. CP 12; 10/01/15 RP 1097; 07/20/21 RP 7-8. However, it convicted him of felony murder in the second degree and a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 10.

The court determined Mr. Thornton's offender score was three, resulting in a standard range of 154-254 months. CP 11; 10/01/15 RP 1086. It included in Mr. Thornton's offender score a prior conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance. CP 11. The court imposed a standard range sentence of 220 months, plus 24 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, for a total sentence of over twenty years' imprisonment. CP 14.

In 2021, the court resentenced Mr. Thornton following this Court's decision in *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). CP 44-48; 07/20/21 RP 1-11. When the parties returned to the trial court for the new sentencing before

a different judge, the prosecution began by narrowing the scope of the hearing. The prosecution argued the court could not "take[] into account" any information Mr. Thornton may present to mitigate the new sentence. •7/20/21 RP 7. It argued the proceeding was "not a resentencing like a normal remand for a resentencing." •7/20/21 RP 6. Instead, the prosecution insisted it was "just an adjustment due to the *Blake* decision" and urged the court to impose the identical sentence. •7/20/21 RP 6.

The parties agreed Mr. Thornton's correct score was a two and that the resulting standard range was 144-244 months or 168-268 months with the weapon enhancement. •7/20/21 RP 6-7; CP 46. The prosecution asked the court to impose the same term as the void sentence of 244 months, despite the corrected offender score and standard range. •7/20/21 RP 6-7.

When given the opportunity to speak, Mr. Thornton accepted responsibility for the crime. **©7/2©/21** RP 8-9. He explained the incident was a "tragedy" and expressed remorse

• 1/20/21 RP 8-9. Consistent with his trial testimony that he acted in self-defense, Mr. Thornton explained he did not intend to harm anyone. • 7/20/21 RP 8-9; see also 10/01/15 RP 1102-03. Mr. Thornton asked the court to consider "all these things" and to impose a sentence of 168 months, which was the low end of the standard range when adjusted for the enhancement.

Rather than treat the hearing as a full resentencing, the trial court agreed with the prosecution that "this is a different sort of sentencing." •7/2•/21 RP 9. It accepted the prosecution's argument that "it's true ... this is not a typical resentencing and that we shouldn't consider anything he's done positive or negative in resentencing." •7/2•/21 RP 9.

The court also did not exercise its own discretion to determine the appropriate sentence but instead tried to replicate the previous judge's sentencing within the correct range.

•7/2•/21 RP 9. Because "Mr. Thornton got the mid-range last

time," the court stated, "I'm going to stay with the mid-range sentence." **07/20/21** RP 9. The court did not address Mr. Thornton's request for the minimum sentence or consider the mitigation of his failed lack of intent and self-defense claims. **07/20/21** RP 9.

The court imposed a mid-range sentence of 205 months, plus 24 months for the weapon enhancement, for a total sentence of 229 months. 07/20/21 RP 9; CP 47-48.

#### D. ARGUMENT

The court misunderstood its discretion and denied Mr. Thornton a fair sentencing when it wrongly believed it could not consider Mr. Thornton's mitigation arguments and thought it was limited to replicating the previous court's sentencing decision.

This Court should grant review. Mr. Thornton was entitled to a full resentencing following the reduction in his offender score, but the trial court refused to consider his arguments about mitigating circumstances or any other relevant information apart from the change in score. The opinion affirming this ruling conflicts with opinions of this Court and

the Court of Appeals, and implicates the right to fair sentencing proceedings, which is an issue of substantial public interest.

#### 1. Mr. Thornton was entitled to a full resentencing.

When a court imposes a sentence based on an incorrect offender score, the sentence is unauthorized by statute and is unlawful. *In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 867-68, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). The court "has the power and duty to correct the erroneous sentence" in such circumstances. *Id.* at 869 (internal quotations omitted).

Once an erroneous sentence is vacated, it "no longer exists as a final judgment on the merits," and the court at a resentencing hearing must independently determine the appropriate sentence. *State v. Harrison*, 148 Wn.2d 550, 561-62, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003). Such resentencings are de novo. *State v. Dunbar*, \_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_, 532 P.3d 652, 656 (2023); *State v. Edwards*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 118, 122, 514 P.3d 692 (2022).

At sentencing, the court must consider any relevant evidence or argument presented. "When a trial court is called on to make a discretionary sentencing decision, the court must meaningfully consider the request in accordance with the applicable law." State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47, 56, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). This includes meaningfully considering mitigating evidence. State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). Where a court does not exercise or misapprehends its discretion, a person is entitled to a new sentencing hearing. *Id.*; State v. McFarland, 18 Wn. App. 2d 528, 531, 492 P.3d 829 (2021). Similarly, where a court misunderstands the scope of its discretion, a person is entitled to a new sentencing hearing. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d at 56.

The "outright refusal of a trial court to consider sentencing argument is error." *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 654 n.1, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). So too is a court's belief it lacks the discretion to consider an argument. *State v. Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 166 P.3d 677 (2007).

2. The court misunderstood its discretion when it treated Mr. Thornton's resentencing as a question of how to adjust the prior sentence rather than a new de novo hearing at which it must independently determine the appropriate sentence.

Mr. Thornton appeared before the court for a new sentencing hearing following the change in his offender score. The trial court misunderstood the scope of the hearing and did not exercise its discretion to determine the appropriate sentence in the first instance. Instead, the court thought this was "a different sort of sentencing," believed it was limited to the impact of *Blake*, and artificially restricted the scope of the hearing to replicating the prior sentence. 07/20/21 RP 9.

First, the court did not meaningfully consider Mr. Thornton's request for a "low end" sentence. 07/20/21 RP 7. Mr. Thornton argued he did not intend to harm the decedent. 07/20/21 RP 8-9. He asked the court to consider his lack of intent, which was consistent with his failed self-defense claim. 07/20/21 RP 8-9; 10/01/15 RP 1102-03. And he asked the

court to impose a sentence of 168 months at the low end of the standard range. **07/20/21** RP 7-9.

A sentencing court must meaningfully consider mitigation. *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 342. Mitigating evidence includes a failed defense. *State v. Schloredt*, 97 Wn. App. 789, 801-02, 987 P.2d 647 (1999). An unsuccessful defense may be a mitigating factor regardless of its viability at trial. *State v. Jeannotte*, 133 Wn.2d 847, 848, 852, 947 P.2d 1192 (1997); *State v. Hutsell*, 120 Wn.2d 913, 921, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993). Such evidence may affect a sentence within or below the standard range. Here, Mr. Thornton argued his lack of intent was something the court should consider to mitigate his sentence. 07/20/21 RP 8-9.

But rather than consider the circumstances of the crime and Mr. Thornton's argument, the court did not exercise its discretion to meaningfully consider Mr. Thornton's request for a low end sentence. Instead, the court limited itself to replicating "the mid-range" sentence that "Mr. Thornton got ...

last time" within the correct range. **07/20/21** RP 9. The court stated, "I'm going to stay with the mid-range sentence." **07/20/21** RP 9. It did not consider Mr. Thornton's arguments or request for a low end sentence. **07/20/21** RP 9.

The court did not treat the proceeding as a full resentencing at which it must exercise its authority to independently determine the appropriate sentence, free from the prior court's assessment. Instead, the court believed it was limited to the impact of *Blake* and that it was "a different sort of sentencing." •7/2•/21 RP 9. It agreed with the prosecution that "we shouldn't consider anything he's done positive or negative in the resentencing." •7/2•/21 RP 9. The court did not independently determine the appropriate sentence. It sought to "stay with the mid-range sentence" that the original trial court imposed previously. •7/2•/21 RP 9.

A correction to a person's offender score requires a full resentencing. But the court erred in artificially limiting the scope of Mr. Thornton's hearing and determining that it was

conducting "a different sort of sentencing" in which it "shouldn't consider" anything other than the change in the offender score. 07/20/21 RP 9.

3. The Court of Appeals improperly excused the trial court's abuse of discretion, in conflict with opinions holding courts must meaningfully consider mitigating evidence and conduct de novo sentencing hearings after *Blake*.

The Court of Appeals agrees that the inclusion of a void conviction in Mr. Thornton's offender score rendered the score incorrect and the resulting sentencing unlawful, entitling him to a full resentencing. Slip op. at 3. But the appellate court nevertheless ignores the trial court's refusal to consider Mr. Thornton's arguments about mitigation. It also pretends the court made an independent determination of the appropriate sentence even though it stated "I'm going to stay with the midrange sentence" because "Mr. Thornton got the mid-range last time." 07/20/21 RP 9.

Mr. Thornton was well within his rights to ask the court to consider the mitigating circumstances of his failed self-

defense claim and impose a lower sentence. But the court told him this was "a different sort of sentencing" and that it would "stay with the mid-range sentence" because that is what the court imposed "last time." •7/20/21 RP 9. The court's refusal to consider mitigating evidence conflicts with this Court's cases that require courts to meaningfully consider mitigating evidence at sentencing. *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 342; *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 56.

The Court of Appeals's opinion also conflicts with the published opinion in *Dunbar*, 532 P.3d 652. Mr. Dunbar, like Mr. Thornton, returned to court for resentencing following *Blake*. *Dunbar*, 532 P.3d at 654. Unlike Mr. Thornton, Mr. Dunbar's standard range on the convictions did not change because his scores remained in the mid-20s, well above a 9. *Id*. The resentencing court would not consider Mr. Dunbar's evidence of rehabilitation and deferred to the original sentencing judge's decision. *Id*. at 654-55.

The Court of Appeals held Mr. Dunbar was denied his right to a de novo resentencing hearing and reversed. *Id.* at 658. It ruled resentencing judges "should be able to take new matters into account" including evidence of rehabilitation, and that courts must "entertain any relevant evidence" impacting sentencing. *Id.* at 656. Indeed, sentencing courts must "consider any matters relevant to sentencing, even those that may not have been raised at the first sentencing hearing" because it is a de novo sentencing. *Id.* at 658.

A de novo sentencing also means the "resentencing judge may not rely on a previous court's sentence determination and fail to conduct its own independent review." *Id.* Judges must "exercise independent discretion" and not merely defer to the prior judge's sentencing decision. *Id.* at 656.

Here, the court resentenced Mr. Thornton but expressly refused to exercise independent discretion. It limited its review to altering the offender score and repeating the previous court's sentence determination. The court restricted itself to "stay with

the mid-range" that "Mr. Thornton got ... last time." •7/2•/21 RP 9. It did not treat the hearing as a de novo proceeding and said "we shouldn't consider anything that he's done positive or negative in resentencing" because "this is a different sort of sentencing." •7/2•/21 RP 9.

As *Dunbar* demonstrates, Mr. Thornton was entitled to a full resentencing hearing. But contrary to *Dunbar*, the court here did not conduct a de novo sentencing proceeding. The court failed to exercise its independent discretion to determine the appropriate sentence when it did not consider Mr. Thornton's mitigation arguments and did not exercise its independent judgment but deferred to the previous sentencing court. This Court should accept review to address to address this important issue of substantial public interest and resolve the conflict with opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

4. This Court should grant review or stay the case pending its resolution of the issues in *Vasquez* and *Kelly*.

Alternatively, Mr. Thornton requests this Court stay consideration of his petition until resolution of *State v. Vasquez* and *State v. Kelly*.

#### E. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, this Court should accept review or stay this petition pending resolution of *State v. Vasquez* and *State v. Kelly*. RAP 13.4(b).

Counsel certifies this brief complies with RAP 18.17 and the word processing software calculates the number of words in this document, exclusive of words exempted by the rule, as 2,476 words.