#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/9/2023 2:10 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### NO. 102470-3

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### MARCUS BENNETT THORNTON,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Philip K. Sorenson

No. 14-1-03813-7

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Brittany North Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 55353 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-4938

# **

### I. INTRODUCTION

Marcus Thornton was originally sentenced to 244 months. When his offender score changed, a different judge imposed a different sentence of 229 months. Thornton argues that because both sentences were mid-range standard range sentences, the second judge must not have recognized his discretion to impose the low-end standard range sentence that Thornton requested. The court of appeals found "the record belies this assertion."

Thornton's maintenance of a factual dispute does not meet a RAP 13.4(b) consideration necessary for discretionary review.

#### **II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- A. Where the court of appeals' opinion is not in conflict with any published opinion, whether Thornton's factual dispute over the court's interpretation of the record involves an issue of substantial public interest?
- B. Whether State v. Vasquez, Case No. 102045-7 or State v. Kelly, Cases No. 102002-3 & 102003-1 provide a rational basis to stay consideration of this petition?
- ///
- ///

|||

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Thornton hunted down an unarmed man, threw him to ground, climbed on top of him, and stabbed him to death while demanding the victim beg for his life.

A jury convicted Marcus Thornton of second degree murder with a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 10; *State v. Thornton*, 198 Wn. App. 1026, 2017 WL 1164652 (2017) (unpublished, cited for historical facts of offense).

On the day of the killing, Thornton was hunting for his victim John Ware. *Thornton*, 2017 WL 1164652 at \*1. He came upon Ware's girlfriend Rayneisha Gardner who asked whether he had pulled a knife on Ware a few days earlier. *Id*. When Thornton said he had, she asked why he did not put the knife down and just fight him. *Id*. Thornton said he "wouldn't have pulled a knife if he wanted to fight." *Id*.

Gardner knew Ware had borrowed a Bluetooth speaker from Thornton but never returned it. *Id*. When she offered to pay for it, Thornton responded, the dispute was about "more than just a speaker." *Id*. The way Thornton said he could "feel" Ware in the area and would run into him gave Gardner a chill. *Id*. She told Thornton not to hurt Ware. *Id*. He laughed and said, "Oh, I'm not going to hurt him." *Id*. Gardner wanted to warn Ware but did not have a cell phone. *Id*.

Witnesses followed Thornton as he spied Ware. *Id.* They watched Thornton ride up on an unarmed Ware, slam him to the ground, get on top of him and then stab him repeatedly while demanding that Ware beg for his life. *Id.* A witness stepped in too late. *Id.* at \*2. Ware was dead within minutes; one of the multiple wounds went through his lung and heart. *Id.* Thornton himself was uninjured and was later heard to brag about the stabbing. *Id.* 

At trial, Thornton claimed he had acted in self-defense. *Id.* The jury did not agree. *Id.* at \*4.

# B. The judge who presided over the trial imposed a standard range sentence of 244 months.

Thornton's standard range was 178-278 months based on an offender score that relied in part upon a prior conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance (UPCS). CP 11. The Honorable Judge Jerry Costello imposed a mid-range sentence of 244 months. CP 11, 14, 18. The mandate on Thornton's appeal issued in August of 2017. CP 27.

C. At his *Blake* resentencing, Thornton asked for a lowend sentence claiming that it had been "a mutual fight."

Some years later, Thornton was resentenced following the retirement of the original trial judge and as a result of *State v*. *Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021) (holding unconstitutional convictions for UPCS). CP 22; RP 5.

The prosecutor advised the court that the new standard range was 168-268 months. RP 6. The State had originally recommended the high end of the range. RP 7. Out of respect for the trial judge's mid-range sentence, the State did not maintain its high-end recommendation but asked for the original 244-month sentence. RP 6.

Defense counsel noted that the jury had acquitted on firstdegree murder and that a proportional reduction from the original sentence would be 234 months. RP 7-8. The defense asked for a low-end sentence of 168 months. RP 7. Thornton then claimed he accepted full responsibility while at the same time both blaming the victim and minimizing his own actions by describing the murder as "a mutual fight." RP 8-9.

## D. A different judge imposed a standard range sentence of 229 months which fit his "way of thinking about things."

The judge rejected the prosecutor's remark that the resentencing was "just an adjustment." RP 6, 9. "I don't necessarily disagree with the notion that this is a different sort of sentencing. It is a sentencing, nonetheless." RP 9.

The judge did not impose either the original 244-month sentence or a 234-month sentence which would have represented a proportional reduction of the original sentence. The court decided to "stay with the mid-range" "[i]n keeping with my, essentially, way of thinking about things" and imposed "the new sentence" of 229 months, i.e., 15 months less that the previous judge had imposed. RP 9.

# E. The court of appeals found Thornton's representation of the record was counterfactual.

On appeal, Thornton argued inter alia that the new judge

had "merely replicated" the previous sentence. Br. of Ap. at 9.

The court of appeals disagreed:

[T]he record belies this assertion. The superior court clearly stated that it recognized that this was an independent sentencing hearing. VRP (Jul. 20, 2021) at 9 ("It is a sentencing, nonetheless."). Further, the superior court imposed a sentence consistent with its "way of thinking about things," rather than deferring to the previous sentence. VRP (Jul. 20, 2021) at 9.

••••

Therefore, contrary to Thornton's assertion, the superior court committed no legal error at the resentencing hearing. Accordingly, Thornton's standard range sentence is not appealable.

Slip Op. at 3.

Thornton seeks discretionary review of this factual

interpretation.

### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. A disagreement over facts is not a basis for discretionary review.

Thornton claims that the court of appeals' decision is in conflict with other published cases. Pet. Rev. at 2 (citing RAP

13.4(b)(1) and (2)). This is manifestly untrue. Thornton and the court of appeals do not disagree on the law. They disagree on the facts.

Thornton argues he was entitled to a full resentencing—a legal question. Pet. Rev. at 7. The court of appeals agreed. Slip Op. at 3; Pet. Rev. at 12. It found he received that full resentencing. Slip Op. at 3.

Thornton argues that the sentencing judge did not understand he had authority to provide that full resentencing, believing instead that he could only impose a mid-range sentence—a factual question. Pet. Rev. at 9, 10. The court of appeals disagreed. It found the court did not refuse to consider any argument Thornton presented and did not feel bound by the previous judge's choices. Slip Op. at 3.

Thornton argues the court of appeals "ignores the trial court's refusal to consider Mr. Thornton's arguments." Pet. Rev. at 12. The record belies this assertion. The court found there

was no refusal. Slip Op. at 3 ("the superior court did not refuse to consider any specific sentencing request made by Thornton").

Thornton asserts the opinion conflicts with *State v*. *Dunbar*, --Wn. App. 3d --, 532 P.3d 652, 656 (2023) (holding there is a presumption of a de novo resentencing hearing). Pet. Rev. at 13-14. This argument relies upon the false premise that the court refused to hear Thornton. The court of appeals found Thornton received a de novo sentencing hearing. Slip Op. at 3. Thornton's disagreement with this factual determination (Pet. Rev. at 15) does not demonstrate a conflict with *Dunbar*. Nor does it demonstrate an issue of substantial public interest.

# **B.** *Vasquez* and *Kelly* are not material to Thornton's petition and therefore do not provide a basis for a stay.

Thornton requests a stay of his petition pending this Court's resolution of *State v. Vasquez*, Case No. 102045-7, and *State v. Kelly*, Cases No. 102002-3 & 102003-1. Pet. Rev. at 2, 16. Thornton does not discuss what these cases are about or how they are material to his own case. They are not a basis for stay. In *State v. Vasquez*, 26 Wn. App. 2d 1032, 2023 WL 3197346 at \*5 (2023), as in *Dunbar*, the court held that resentencing is presumptively de novo. "During the resentencing, the resentencing judge may consider rulings by another judge during the sentencing of the offender, but the resentencing judge should exercise independent discretion." *Id.* The Slip Op. agrees with both *Vasquez* and *Dunbar* on the law. They apply the law to different facts. This is not a basis for a stay.

Timothy Kelly has two cases which have been consolidated for discretionary review. The first case regards the timeliness of a petition and the mandatory nature of consecutive firearm enhancements—issues which do not exist in Thornton's case. *State v. Kelly*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 879, 526 P.3d 39 (2023). The second case regards timeliness and mootness—again issues which do not exist in Thornton's case. *State v. Kelly*, 26 Wn. App. 2d 1005 (2023).

The two cases do not present a valid basis to stay resolution of Thornton's petition.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court deny review where

Thornton's complaint is with the court's interpretation of the

record, not the law.

This document is in 14-point font and contains 1,569 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.